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LANZMANN: Where did you live before the war?
R. ELIAS: I was living in Czechoslovakia, in a town called Moravska Ostrava

C.L. Itt's a famous town.

E; Yes, Coal, Itts all black. Plenty of Jews; a nice life.

C.L, Many Jews? |

E. I think; I'm not sure today. I donft—want to give you any
numbers, but I went to a Jewish'elémentary school, which means
if there was a Jewish elementary school there were enough
Jews to visit it, and to hold it.up.

C.L. And which language did you speak in your family?

E. In our family we talked Czech, but my father sent me first of
all to a Jewish elementary school and afterwards to a German
high school because of the education. I don't know what his
reason was, but at home we falked Czech,

C.L. You talked Czech? |

E. Yes.

C.L. It was rather seldom among%the Jews to talk Czech.

E. ‘Very seldom.

€.L. Because they used to talk German, as a matter of fact.

E. Yes, for instance the newspapers my father read were German.
He was brought up, of course, in (Kaunt--kar Osterreich?), he
was born there,

C.L. And what was the profession of your father?
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E. My father had a factory for sausages.
€c.L. Sausages?
E. Yes, and on one of the main streets of the town we had a

big restaurant - a 'quick-buffet!', I would say - and we had

3 shops...
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C.L. Yes, you said your father had a sausage factory.

E. Yes.

C.L. Were they kosher sausages?

E. No, it was not kosher, wé had 3 stores and the factory, around
LO people working, ... quite wealthy.

€C.L. Yes, And in the Jewish school, what did you learn? Hebrew?

E. I also learned the Hebrew ‘aleph-beth!, of course, but it
was Czech and German, a double-language school. I was brought
up with 2 languages, Czech and German. |

€.L. And do you remember,... how old were you (excuse me for asking)
when the deportations for Theresienstadt started?

E. When the deportations for Theresienstadt started I was 19.

C.L. Do you remember vividly how it happened?

E. Very vividly.

C.L.. Could you describe it?

E. If you don't mind I will tell you a little about when the
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Germans entered Czechoslovakia in March 1939.

My father had -a foreman working in his factory - he gréw up

in the factory. The Germans occupied Czechoslovakia, and the
very next day this man was in the door of the factory and didn't
allow my father to enter any more. He appeared in a SA uniform
with a swastika on his arm, and told him *The factory is not
yours any more'. I can see m¥ father's face. My father went
away. Afterwards we also had to leave our very big flat and

had to take another small one, It was Jjust until September

1939, and it was only in my home town, in Morevska Ostrava

that in September '39 they took all the Jewish men...

C.L. To Nisko.

E.

To Nisko. You are very well informed,

C.L. Your father was deported to Nisko?

E.

My father was not deported to Nisko. The firm belonged to my
father and his brother - two brothers - and my father decided
he was not leaving his family and we ran away from Meravska
Ostrava., My father, with plenty of money, bought false
identity cards without the 'J* for 'Jude! andee were living
in the countryside with these false papers, working on several
farms as agricultural day workers from September '39 till

our deportation to Theresienstadt on 4th April 1942.

How did they come on us that we were Jews? Somebody told them
that there were Jews in Pozorzihy Ubrenna (?). It was a very,
very tiny village. And off we went to the transport to

Theresienstadt. I want only to tell you about this little



REPRODUCED FROM THE HOLDINGS OF THE U.S. HOLOCAUST MEMORIAL MUSEUM ARCHIVES

-l RUTH ELIAS 2

village: it was near Brno (Brinn), a big town:in Czechoslovakia,
and I sometimes went into Brno to learn something. I was
brought up in a wealthy house, I knew how to play the piano but
nothing more, and I started to learn to knit mesh on a machine.
There I met my first husband. I came to Theresienstadt; he
was. already there, we were not married beforehand.

C.L. This means you met somebody...

E. I met somebody whom I afterwards married, to be correct.
Do you want me to tell about Theresienstadt now?

C.L. I would like you to tell me about the deportation, the trip,
everything which happened. Had you heard already about Theresien-

¥, stadt?

E. We heard that the transports were leaving for Theresienstadt.
What is Theresienstadt? How is Theresienstadt? We didn't know.
We couldn't imagine how it was.
We were allowed to take 30 kilos each, if I:am not mistaken - -
one pice of luggage. That was with our clothes and our needs,
That was all. Everything else had to be left bekind. Of course,
what we had in our flat and everything, my father started to
give to Czech Christian families to hide things away. I didn't
seé anything of it when I came back, or very, very little.

¢.L. The property, the money? You took nothing?

E. Nothing.

¢.L. Did the whole family go to Theresienstadt?
E. My uncle, that is to say the brother with whom my father shared

the firm, had to stay in Prague because - no, in Moravska
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Ostrava - because he was very i1ll, he had cancer and he was
on a cancer station, but all the other family - my gister, my
elder sister, my father and my mother and the wife of the brother,
all came together to Theresienstadt.

C.I,. The station - at the time the trains were not going inside
the town.‘You went to Litomerice or to...

E. No, to Bochoczewitz(?). We came to Bochoczewitz and then we had
to go by foot into Theresienstadt. We were separated. We
were living in Caserne, where the army was stationed bhefore.
Po be very short, Theresienstadt was a military town, and therg
were quarters for the military. The houses were for Czechs who
were on service for this army town; the houses were emptied
by the Czechs, and all was empty. We started to océupy. We
were living separated, men from women, in these living quarters
for the military.

C.L. Were you living in barracks?

E. No,'we were living in the €aserne.

C.L. Which one?

E. I was in the Hamburger Caserne and my father went to the
Bruchlaby(%) - no, excuse me, to the Sudetencasgrne.

C.L. Was it a shock, Theresienstadt?

E. My feeling, and I can only tefl about myself - I was very young
and I found my boyfriend there.

C.L. He was already yourzboyfriend?

E. He was already my boyfriend, before I left to Theresienstadt,

s0 my angle of viewing of coming to Theresienstadt was quite
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different from other people's. I can say, somehow I was happy
to be near my boyfriend. Of course, from the other side I
started to be hungry - and.never in my life I had been hungry -
because there was no food. But in your youth you don't feel

80 very hard... when yoﬁ remember back, now when I am grown up,
I see plehty of things which I couldn't see when I was young.

And it was a lucky thing...

¢C.L. Was it a shock to leave suddenly, only among Jews?

E.
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E.

Not among Jews. The shock was, you were on the ground, with
two mattresses on the floor. You had one cover, and this was

your space for living, with 30 other women in the room.

So we were in a very, very big room, living all together,

and you can imagine that people were talking. people were running

people were quarreling. I think that to live together with

30 people in one room was for me, as a young girl, the shock.
The shock was for me that I couldn't see my father, I couldn't
see my fiancé because it was strictly forbidden for men to
come to the women's guarters and women to come to the men's,
But somehow my boyfriend took some work to carry things to the
women's quarter, so one day yes and one day no, I saw him.

We were 7 days<5:;?heresienst\\t\when I got the call to a

P
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transport. My sister got the same call and my aunt, and my

mother.

C.L.. A call to a tfansport?

E.

E.

For a transport. we were 7 days 1n Theresienstadt. i wanted ¢
very badly to get ih touch with my father, because I wanted to
know if m& father was in the transport too. And my boyfriend,
who was able to be the connection between us told us 'Yes,
your father is also in the transport and he lets you know that
all of us are going to the transport because he was not
feeling well.' I forgot to tell you that my father,haduT.B.
and it was very hard for him to breéthe in Theresienstadt -
why, I don't know, he was living with a pneumothorax(?), which
means only one lung was working, I got a very high% temperature
running that evening, and I got 111, The doctor came and told
me I had angina and that I was not able to go to any transport

which had to leave in another 2 or 3 days,

. C.L. Did you know the meaning of the transport?

No,

C.L. You knew only that it was a transport for the East?

E.

It was a transport for the East, that is all we were told.

C.L. It was frightening, the East?

E.

No, you had no imagination of what would happen because you
heard something was going on in the East, in Poland - we knew
tha%?t was East Poland, but you couldn't imagine what was going
on, you were Jjust...

The doctor told me 'You are not able to be transported'!, and
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because I was not 21, I was only 19%, my whole family mustn't

leave with my illness. Because I am ill and can't go, my whole
family mustn't go because my family have to care for me until

the age of 21,

This was a regulation?

Yes, it ﬁas a regulation: 'Transportunfldhig'., Because I was
not 'volljdhrig! (I don't know how you call it in English) -
until the age of 21.

A majeur.'

J was very glad about it because I didnt't want to leaye
Theresienstadt because of my boyfriend.

He was not in the transport?

He was not in the tramnsport.

My boyfriend came to visit me, and he ran to my father to
give him this message. Then came the message back:'even if you
are ill you have to come with your family. I c¢an't breathe
here and you will be all right.' Again the doctor said !'You
can't go, I can't let you go,' so my boyfriend came and
said 'It is very easy; wé wvill marry'!'. I asked him how; |

tDon't worry about it, we will marry'. An hotr later he came in

with a Rabbl. My neighbour on the floor gave me her wedding ring.

My fiance came with a Rabbi and my neighbour, who was on the

next 2 mattresses on the floor, took off her wedding ring so
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that the Rabbl could say the magic words ! L

'tHerewith you are married', and I was married. The very next
morning the transport had to leave, and I said 'My father is
leaving and I have to tell him I &m married'., I am telling

you this yith this very naive voice because it was a very

naive thinking - I didn't think deeper. I just thought 'I am
married, and I must tell my father'. I got permission to go to
the men's quarters, to leave the quarters where I had been living
I couldn't enter, it was forbidden, so I asked:some men who

were behind the fence, 'Please be s0 kind as to call my

fathér'. My father came to the barBed wire fence, and I told him
tFather, I am married and tomorrow I am not going with you.!

I will never in my life forget the expression on my father's face
He started to cry. I didn't know - instead of my father: should 7
be glad and it is a Jjoy for him that his daughter is married,

he started to ¢ry, and I didn't understand why. Today I
understand it iery'well. My father cried, and whenever I am
dreaming of myvfather or thinking of my father, that's - I

can only see a man crying, I never see this nice man because

he is crying. For years, that's the last picture only I

remember of him, My father somehow gave me his blessing, and

I said goodbye and that was the last time I ever saw my father.

I never saw him again in my life.

In the morning my sister went, and my mother went, and my

aunt went. To everyone I said goodbye;I was crying, because it

was a goodbye. But what was behind this goodbye I couldn't think
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because it was out of imagination. I only felt somehow it

was goodbye. And I stayed with my husband in Theresienstadt.

C.L. All the others went.

E.

All the others went. Nobody stayed.

C.L. Apnd they never came back.

E.

My husband entered the 'Ghettowache' in Theresienstadt. That
was a corps of watchmen, and with that he had the occasion to

come and visit me, but we couldn't live together.

C.L. Tae chief was Kurt Lowenstein.

E.

Yes. I forgot the name. They had uniforms, they had caps, and
they were watching the quarters. They had to be responsible
for order in Theresienstadt.

I started to work as a nurse. I learnt to be a nurse, because

somehow I loved the medical side.

C.L. I would like to ask a question. Marriages were not forbidden

E.

in Theresienstadt?
No, it was not forbidden. I married, and I also carried the

name of my husband, but it was nowhere registered.

. = Jan o /fmede -
C.L. Nowhere régisteredg/&ot even in Theresienstadt?

E.

In Theresienstadt I don't know if it was registered, yes or no.
I can't tell you. I carried my husband's name, but if it was
registered I have no idea. I didn't care about it. Youth, you

know. It's all connected with youth,
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E. So, I was working as a nurse, ﬁhich means I was learning
because I didn't know what it is to be a nurse...

¢.L. Did many marriages take place in Theresienstadt, or was it
rather rare?

E. No, there were plenty of marriages.

¢.L. Till a certain period?

E. As I remember, yes. I was together-with several couples. It
was allowed to marry in Theresienstadt, no problem. .

C.L. Of course it was a 'Selbstverwaltung'.

E. Yes, it was a 'Selbstverwaltungt, just as you said.

RUTH ELIAS 6

E. So marriages were allowed. There were plenty of marriages. As
I told you before, I.started to work as a nﬁrse and after a cer-
tain time I was ordered to be in the geriatric department, the
women's department.

C,L. For old women?

E. 01d women. And don't forget, I was 19% or 20. When I was on
night duty, at least 2 or 3 died in my arms. Where did they die?
On the floor, with the 2 mattresses, in the cold because it

was not heated, and in misery, calling for their daughters or
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their grandchildren and telling me about them. It was just

too much for me to bear. I was very hungry, I had nothing to eat,
only the daily ration. My husband was huagry, his parents were
hungry, and I decided I can't bear this misery any longer and

I am going to be a cook. I am going to be near food!

C.L. Yes, I understand that we come back to this; it's funny,
because I had Just written here: 'The old people', because
I wanted you to talk about this. Do you remember when the
German Jews arrived in Theresienstadt? The old ones?

E. Yes, but I was not working any more. In this geriatric depart-
ment, I was only there for...

C.L. Could you describe how they lived? Because they came with
illusions to Theresienstadt. They were even told you can
rent a room in the sun, and so on.

E. I beg your pardon, I didn't understand that,

C.L. The Germans told them 'You will come to Theresienstadt and
you can even have a room in the sun. You have to pay specially
for this', and so,bn.

E. Agaln I must disappoint you a little, because I was working as
a nurse in this geriatric department, and afterwards, when I
got aut of it I had no contact with the older people.

C.L. How long did you work in this geriatric department?

E. Around 3 or 4 months maximum, because I couldn't bear it. The -
most difficult thing was the nights, to go over the night
duty with people dying. I was confronted with death for the
fi?st time, and I was not even 20. It was not one death a

night; it fell on me, 2 or 3 people, and I had to pick them
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up and carry them away to the 'Leichenhalle'.

C.L. The corpses hall.

E.

The corpses, yes of course., And I had to make a package out of
what was left over, because the next day relatives came to

fetch it. I couldn't cope with this.,

C.L. This was in winter '42/'53?

E.

I think it was around October, November '42,

C.L. I read that at this time 4 000 or 5 000 people died monthly.

E.

Yes, it was terrible.

C.L. How did they live, these old people?

E.

As I t0ld you, the same as we lived: on 2 mattresses on the
floor. Between the mattresses there was onlj a very narrow
gangway to the next mattress. So you had a space of 1mlO to
your~length, that was all you had. The old peoﬁle had that too.
I just told you, I ran away from it. My husband's parents were
in Theresienstadt, and they were also in their quarters with
elderly people - in other words, I had to visit them and

I nursed them until one died - the father died, and the mother

went afterwards with us.

C.L. How long did they succeed to survive?

E.

I think about one year.

C.L. I am not talking about the parentsy but the o0ld people

'E- -

generally,
You can't generalise, because there were also o0ld people who

afterwards went with us to Auschwitz. That means they survived.

C.L. But mestly they came to die?
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Dont't forget there is another important moment I remembered
Just now: when you are 20, in your eyes people of 45, 50 are

old people. It is relatively thinking.

C.L. Yes, but'I was talking about the people of 70, because many

E.

very old people came.

These very old people didn't hold out. They couldn't. To be
taken out of the comfort of your surroundings, which you have
been used to, your whole life, and to be put ihto this very, .
very big room' with several tems of people- it is impossible
to live it over because first of all your personality breaks,
The disappointment in living, and then all the thoughts of
'What am I living for? Why am I living?' And the moment you

lose the will to live...

C.L. And the hope.

E.

...people‘die, if they are 40, if they are 20 or if they are 70.
If you have no perspective in front of you, you can't go on.
When your spirit dies, you die. And this was what happened, why

s0 many died. That is my persomnal translation.

C.L. You are completely right. But this was a policy of the Germans,

E.

to have them die.

Of course., When I read bobks today about what happened, and when
I start to think, from our side we were just dancing to the
German's music, I think, because they made their research, they
made the programme, and they just wanted it to be like this.

And they broke us. They succeeded in their plans, in what they

were doing, because they broke us - and from their side it was
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programmed. Only we didn't know about it.

C.L. For me it was always one of the most horrible,..

E.

RUTH ELIAS 7
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But I will tell you a very hard story of what happened to me.
I told you my father was a very clever and intelligent person;
he didn't go to high schools or to college, but he was a

very practical, logical-thinking man. One day a card reached
TEREZ 1N

-me in Theresienstadt. Afterwards I could only imagine what

my father was doing - he threw a card out of the wagon when
he was transported to Poland. No, excuse me, it was not that.
A card reached me saying these words: 'We are in Poland. They

wanted to separate your mother from me ...'

I don't know how long it was when my parents went to Poland,
but one day a card reached me at Theresienstadt; ore day when

I was walking on the street a gendarme, a Czech, came to me
and gave.it to me sbd ﬁhat nobody could éee, because it was
strictly forbidden. Even he could sit in jail if somebody had
seen him passing me over sométhing, because he was striclly
forbidden to get in touch with prisoners. Until today I

don't know how he knew that the card belonged to me. I have no
idea. But it wastthe last card from my father, and the words
were: 'We arrived in Poland. They separated women from men.

Your mother didn't want to go from my side and was shot in
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front‘of ny eyes.‘Now I will search for Edith' (my sister).t'If
I do:not find her I will commit suicide'.

I got this card and didn't know what was gping on. Why were
they:separated? Or why was my mother shot when she didn't want
to leave his side? WhenI started to operate the words, the sen;

tences, it didn't make sense to me.

C.L. How is this possible?

E.

I don't know the translatiocn of the words because they were frank
words; today I know they were frank words, today I know what
this card meant, but to be in the ghetto and to get such a

card, you couldn't... you couldn't;.. I don't know why...

C.L. How did he succeed? Where did he die, in Auschwitz?

E.

No, no. He did not die in Auschwitz. It was in... on the way

to Treblinka, or something like that,

C.L. Treblinka?

E.

Yes, because there was no Auschwitz yet in 42,

C.L. Oh yes, there was.

E.

There was already, but the Czech transports didn't arrive there.

They went to Lodz, to old ghettos.

C.L. Yes, maybe you are completely right, maybe they were shipped

E.

to Lodz. It's absolutely true. There were transports from
Theresienstadt that went to Lodz,

It was not yet Auschwitz. Auschwitz started in September 43,
from Theresienstadt. The Czechs from Theresienstadt to Auschwitz

started in September '43,

C.L. Yes, you are completely right. There were transports that were
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shipped to Lodz. That's true.

E. So that was the last card from my father. We just couldn't...
Is he writing in code? What does he mean? I can only tell
you ' - the iramnslation of cards arriving: people threw
out cards from wagons, and they arrived in Therésienstadt. Ve
didn't know, we didn't believe. We couldn't believe.

C.L; S0 you learnt in Theresienstadt, in the ghetto, that your
mother had been shot?

E. That was a... And I told you my father was together with ny
uncle, who had no children and I was his beloved niece. Into
Theresienstadt came the Jewish%newé from the Jewish Communities,
which still worked in the towns...

C.L. In Prague?

E. In P¥ague, and one day I got - but I didn't read it, it didn' ¢t
interest me - the Jewish news from Prague. One day I got one
of these news to my hand, énd I opened and saw that my uncle had
died in Moravska Ostfava.

C.L. And the newspaper was called -~ wait a minute...

E. Zhirovska Spravi(?)

C.L. Yes, in Czech, but in German...

E. Judische Nachrichten,

C.L. Judische Nachrichtenblatt,

E. Judisches Nachrichtemblatt. So I learnt from this newspaper -
you know, when I came back and started to think how my father
died, so I thanked God that this uncle had died normally, in

his bed, from cancer. So that was what I heard of my family,

and of course I couldn't imagine that... I knew that my mother
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"died, but I didn't know what happened to my father. I didn't
know what happened to my sister, if they were living or not
living. I was sure they were living, I was sure of it somehow.

I got an occupation in the kitchen,

C.L. Let's come back to the issue. I would like you to repeat,

w«

e

becauée it was at the end of the reel, that you said you

wanted to work near the food.Repeat it again, please,

I'1] tell you something: people in misery act like animals.

That is instinct, and when I today listen to people, they

were doing this, and this in concentration camps - to be able

to tell it afterwards, I don't believe it. I'm sorry to say

I don't believe it, because I saw the animal instinct in people.
All your:smask - you had to ummask, you had to stay what you
were, you couldn't act, because in all those surroundings it
Just came to you that you couldn'f act, you had to show your
true facé, One of the instincts in me was food; tSelbsterhaltung?,
to hold yourself up,‘is only possible when you are eating. You
will afterwards hear how I was eating and how I was stealing

food, but all was instinct to be able to live.

C.L. It was the main...

E.

Yes, nothing else. I can tell you that when women came together
and started to talk, we were cooking with our mouths - because
we had nothing to cook. But you started to talk about how tob
cook this, and how to cook that. And you were talking about
food, becanse this was the main problem - to survive, to eat,

to have strength.
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(E.) All thése thoughts are thoughts of today, as I told you.
Instinct is not the thought of today. 1 said I was only
acting instinctively: I wanted to be near food,.so I started
to try to get into the kitchen. Getting into the kitchen to
work was very hard.

C.L. Difficult?

E. Very difficult, because everysone wanted to work in the
kitchen. Everyone wanted to be near food. I had luck. I am
a kind of musician; one day I came to a room where an accordion

was, 1 started to play the accordion and sing, and in this rom

° was a man called Schneider. I have forgotten his surname (=

(N.d.T.) first name?). He told me 'I'need you in the kitchen because ym
know how to sing, how to be *fr8hlich!'.
- C.L. FrBhlich?
E. Yes. The very next day I started to work - hard work, very
hard work, but I started to eat and I started to steal. 1 started
to steal, not to sell‘it, but my husband had to eat, his parents

had to eat. Wé had to steal.
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E. Again, I can't fetch it that people are telling that they
wanted to live to be able to teli afterwards, I didn't know

what would be afterwards; you know what 'Carpe diem' means?
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C.L. Yes, _

E. That's what we had to do.!'Carpe diem'. I didn't know what
would be the next hour, I couldn't say what would be the
next day. I didn't want to live to be able to tell people, I
wanted to live because 1 was young, and I wanted to live.
That's it: I wanted to 1ivé, nothing else. You will see
afterwards - I have got a very long story ~ but you will see
how the will to live is so very strong, without any thoughts
behind it. I don't believe in thoughts in misery like this,

C.L. Ahd in the kitchen you were singing?

E. How I was singing! And all the people with me were singing.
We were singing; we were getting up at 4 o'clock, and it was
hard work to clean the kettles where food was cooked, and
afterwards to carry these barreis full of food. We had to
carry them, we had to be strong. and wé were singing, we were
singing so much that afterwards I was singing in the Opera ;
in the 'Verkaufté;Braut'. We were singing in Freizeit, and...

C.L. What weﬂe'you singing?

E. All the Czech songs, and the 'Schlaéers', the hifs from this
time. But what we were singing most:in Czéchoslovakia were a
couple of Czech *satires: , Woskowitz and Verri(?). They are
-very, very famous until today in Czechoslovakia. One of them
is 1living in America, the other in Czechoslovakia today. They
had a theatre and they sang about godd political satire. Also
at this time, before the war, thay were singing against Hitler

and so on. All their songs, they were like hymns, they were
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our leading songs.

C.L. Could you sing again now?

E. I will sing; if'you will allow, I will take the accordebn
and accompany myself, ok?

C.L. Yes, I would like this very much.

E. Do you want it now, or afterwards?

C.L. As you wish,

E. S0 you want to stop now?

C.L. Maybe you will do it now.

El Ok.

RUTH ELIAS 9

E. Could you stop for a second, please? I must play it once again.,

RUTH ELIAS 9a i
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(Ruth Elias chante en Tehéque)

E., I will give yéu now a free translation into English.

C.L. Yes, or in German.

E. 'Everything goes when it is possible. Even if the time is so
very hard, some kind of humour is still in.our hearts. Every
day we have to move back and forth, and only in'BO words we
can write home, but tomorrow time is beginning again. The time

is coming nearer when we will again pick up our (penpickeli?)
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and go home again, and everything goes when you want that it
should go. The day will come and we will laugh about the ruins
of the ghetto'!. That is the content of this song. It is a

song written in a very slow march tempo, and it is full of

hope when you think about ithe words. That's what we sang there,
and everyone who went through Theresien and will hear this song,

will sing the 'words with you.

C.L. Did the German Jews sing it too?

E.

No, not in German.

C.L. I mean the German Jews of Theresienstadt.

E.

That I can't tell you, because the text was only in Czech.
You mustn't forget thaﬁ we had there, and especially from
Germany came very good composers and singers and artists and
50 on. We had people making music, chamber music, and popular
music. There was a café and we had to sing in varieties and
50 on... I was not in a variety, there were much bigger and
more famous people, and they made an opera. They had soloists
from the ppera; the conductor was a Rumanian Jew, a very
wonderful Jew —-BEEEEE-EEEfiEfer - and I started to sing in
the ! ', 'Diec verkaufte Braut', 'The bought Bride!
from Smetternach(?) . The soloists were German Jews, because

they were famous, and wonderful artists,

C.L. Were there other songs, I mean Jewish songs, that you used

E.

to sing at the time?
When we came together we used to sing several songs.

(Elle chante)
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We didﬁ't know what 'Kadema' meant, and there were two words
so it was very, very easy.

Two words of Hebrew?

Yes, two words of Hebrew, so it was very easy to remember,
Then when we gathered together with... Of course, there were
the zionist Jews, and when we gathered togefher there was
one song that until today we sing in Israel too:

(elle chante)

That's when we were coming together. And today I know there
was only one sentence, ! (en hebreu) ',

'It is nice to be friends together?.

When you want to go, you go very naturally.
(chante)
That's a song which, the more I sing it the more I get into

the meaning ofiit. I am sure the man who wrote it - I don't
know who wrote it, the words and the music - he just wrote it
because it was just a situation, but the meaning of it:'You
will go away and laugh about the ruins of the ghetto' - that's
something, And it was forgotten. I hope it will live.

You know, we sang; we were young, and we sang. When I remember

the kitchens, when we were working and singing there, I can't
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‘help telling another story.

Once a week in Theresienstadt we got soup and a 'Czeski kn8dlig?,
which means a 'DampfknBdel' in German, I don't know how to

say it in English. It was a dumpling, something like that,
filled with (?). For this you had to make yeast dough, and
very early in the morning. It was very hard work, we had to

get up to make these dumplings. We ioved to steal a little

bit of dough. Why? Because we put a little bit of sugar, in the
living quarters, in it, and a little bit of marge, so it was

a good dough, and we baked it and had a wonderful cake. To

have a 1little bit of such a good céke was,.. How rich you

were when you could have it! So what did I do? I had such a
very big apron, and I put the dough behind this apron. I

wanted to leave the kitchen, and it all.had to be hot because
the yeast cake had to go up. So I wanted to leave the kitchen.
Some of my colleagues saw me when I put the dough behind the
apron, and they said 'We won't let Ruth out; we will see

what the yeast dough does when it starts to grow'!, And it
started to grow, here, behind my apron, and I wanted to leave
to put the dough into my living quarters. All the time i had

to clasp here, and I was growing and growing and all the
kitchen was laughing. You see, there was humour in our heart,
just as in the hymn which I sang. Afterwards I came to my living
quarters and had to scrape down, because everything was sticky
from the yeast. That was when you were young, and you had

imagination of what you were doing and how you were doing it,
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and so on.

In Theresienstadt - I don't want to go into big details, but
after a time it was alittle better: you could meet men, it
was not such a strict separation, and because my husband was
1 ;Ghettowachtmann' (it was summer '43) he was privileged to
get a little separation underneath the roof, so we just - I
don't know where from, but he took some wood and we made a
little room for us and we could live together.

C.L. So you succeeded in living together?

E. And that was a very big privilege, but we didn't live only
he and me, but we were two couples living together.

C.L. In the same room.

E. 1In the same room. So of course we had very strict arrangements:
during the day every one of us was workiné, and he was allowed
to enter or not to enter the room - during the day, yes - so
I started to have some married life with my husband, which we
didn't have before. We had met sometimes, somewhere, in a
very dark corner, but that was all.VIt was just summer. One
day I saw that I was pregnant. Until this time it was allowed

to have abortions, and when I saw I was pregnant I went to

a doctor to have an abortion, because we couldn't see (ourselves)

having a family in Theresien. .

C.L. This was a rule: abortion?

E. Yes, it was drule. I am not sure if it was a rule, but aborticns

were made., If it was a rule that you had to have aiortions,...

C.L. No, I mean the rules before the (?).
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Abortions were made, yes.

C.L. But there wers not many children born in Theresienstadt.

E. No.

C.L. Very, very few.

E.

Very few. And when T asked to have an abortion I was told it

was just several days ago forbidden to make abortions.

C.L. Do you know why?

E.

No.

C.L. Who forbade it? The Germans?

E.

The Germans, yes. And the doctors who made abortions were to
be punished, or something. Of course everyone was afraid, so
nobody wanted to do it. We fouwnd ourselves, my husband and I,

with a call to a transport to the East.

C.L. Both of you?

E.

Both of us, yes. Because we were a couple., I asked doctors,
'Please, make me an abortion quickly because in a week's time
I have to leave for the East and I am pregnant'. Nobody wanted

to.

C.L. When was this, exactly?

E'

It was in November, or beginning of December '43. The beginning
of Decgmber. Nobody wanted to make‘an abortion. I had no

other chance.than to go pregmnant to the transport to the

East. |

I think there are plenty of books written and plenty of films
made of how people were loaded into big wagons where animals

were transported. We were also loaded into such a wagon; every
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one of us had a little luggage with some food and some clothes-
more we were not allowed to take. In this wagoh was one bucket

W [§vm .
for water,/and one bucket for W.C,

So this time it reached us, the transport to the East, and I
knew I was pregnant and couldn't do anything to help myself.

We were loaded into these wagons fdr cattle; one bucket for
W.C., one bucket for water. The doors were glosed, and up there
somewhere there was a window closed with barbed wire;:the W.C.
bucket was full so ﬁe all perched in one corner. Somebody tried
to empty th%s bucketrthrough the 1little window. With us were
children, (g;!g\ gﬁ.dﬁ% people. Children crying. This terrible
odour. We could sleep inside only one part, for sleeping, and
the other part was for sitting in the corner. It went for 2
days and one night.

. In wintertime?

£¥ was December, but it was warm inside because we heated it up
with our body temperature. _

rbne evening the train came to a stopﬁ-vthe next day in the evedng
‘The doors were opened and there was a terrible screaming: 'Qut,
out, out!' We were shocked; we didn't know what was going on,

or where we were. We saw only SS with dogs, and we saw in the
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distance symmetric lights, but we didn't know where we were;
or what the thousands of lights meant. We only heard this shout-
ing: 'Out! Out! outtr:

Raus!!
Yes, exactly. And 'Schnell! Schnell! Schnell!'. Out we cane
from these wagons. We had to line up, and there were'some
people with striped uniforms. We didn't know what the stripes
were, and I asked one in Czech, 'Where are we?!. It was a
Pole who understood my Czech, and he told me 'Auschwitz'. But
it didn't mean anything to me. What was Auschwitz? I didn't
know anything about Auschwitz. Overnight we wére bﬁt into

some barracks. We were numbered,

C.L.

E.
C.L.

E.

The very next day in the morning we were (pushed?) into a huge
bathroom. From the ceiling there were showers. First of all,
outside, we had to get rid of all our clothes, men and women
together. Then we were (pushed?) into this bathroom. Today I
know we had very great luck, that instead of Zyklon gas, out

came water.

Yes, but your case was a very special one, the.case of this
transport coming from Theresienstadt. There was no selection

at the beginning for the gas chamber.
There was no selection at all.

This you must explain, what was the (Czech family?).

Yes, I have said that we didn't know until we came into the camp.
We had to wash ourselves in the freezing cold water, in December.

The 24th, it was just Christmas time. We were given - 1 was
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given, I can only talk for myself - wooden shoes and no
underwear. I had a very thin dress, and over it a very thin
coat. We were not given striped uniforms. We were separated,
men from women, but we were led into a so-called 'family camp',
'Familienlager B-Zwei~-B'. That was the 6nly camp in Awschwitz
where men and also women were‘together. There were children .
there, that means all the people from Theresien, as we came,

without any selection beforehand. We came to this family camp.

C.L. So-called family camp.

E.

Yes. In this camp there was already a transport which had left
Theresienstadt in September, which'means 3 months before us,

Our own people started to tell us -

C.L. People that you kﬁew already?

E.

Yes, some of them of course... ~where we were, and what they
were doing there, and so on.

What shall I tell you?

Morning: one black coffee, withou sugar,

Dinnertime: a plate of soup. If you had luck there were several
pieces of vegetable floating in it.

Evening: coffee, 2 or 3 slices of bread. If you had luck there )
was marge or jam or something.

In the morning wé had to go to work. We'were'taking stones fram
one place to another. The next day we took it from the other ™
place to the first place. So you did work which had no sense, .
they wanted to kill your personality, your thinking. They

wanted to kill you. It was freezing cbld. No food. The W.C. was
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a big building separated by a piece of cloth. On one side there
was a row of wooden seats with a hole in them; on one side,
men, and on the other side, women. That was the latrines. Paper

was not there.

C.L. There was none?

E.

No, where from? But sometimes you had luck and there was weed

big enough.

C.L. Excuse me?

E.

There was weed outside. But in winter there was no weed. We
had no underclothes. I've talked about food, the W.C.

Washing: a big barrack. There was a row of taps with cold water
running out. Underneath the taps there was what cattle drink
from - one big bowl on both sides of the taps whare you could
wash yourself. Opposite you a man. You just unclothed - no
shame, you just finclothed because you wanted to be clean. Again,
as J told you before, it was the instinct. Soap? There was no
so0ap, you just took some pieces of sand and scrubbed yourself
and you had the feeling when the water washed it down that you
were clean. Because you dirtied your skin, and afterwards it
came off and you were clean, so it was only the imaginatioﬁ.
Because I was pregnant, and my body started to grow, I was
ashamed of my body. I got up very egrly in the morning and

only prayed to God that no man would be in the washing roonm,
because I wanted to wash but I didn't want a man to see ny
body. That was a terrible time for me. M¥ belly grew; I didn't

know what would be, and I wanted to live. I started to be
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desperate, and somehow I started to sing about death, and to

sing about... if I would be able to live. I never had this...

We arrived, and we were told 'In Auschwitz they are burning

people', and that it was a 'Vernichtungslager!'.

C.L. Yqu were told this?

E.

Yes. Into the’camp came people with striped uniforms, men
from the 'MHnnerlager' with services: they brought in food

and other things, I'miznot sure what they brought in...

C.L. Yes, because this Czech 'Familienlager' was in the middle of

E.

the men's lager.
Yes, it was not far away. They came in and were telling us
it was a 'Vernichtungslager' and there.are crematoriums and so

on. We didn't believe them.

C.L. And the Czechs who came before you...

E.

They also told us but they didn't believe too, because until

Fou see anything...

C.L. But you were 400 metres from the crematorium.

E.

You don't believe. We were all together, the people who came.
People died, of course, every day, but we were together and no-
body was taken away and nobody was burnt. We didn't believe.it

until you felt the smell, It was March 7th.
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C.L. 1944,

E. 1944. Yes. When all the September transport - the transport
that came in 3 months before us in the family camp - the
whole transport was loaded on wagons, trailers, and taken away
from the 'Familienlager'. We who remained were closed up
in the barracks, and it was stricily forbidden for us to
go outside. We didn't know what was going on until we heard
the 'Hatikva' and the Gdedn ovmoi (?).

C.L. And the...?

E. The Gdedn ovmoi(?). That'!s a Czech hymn. And the Hatikwa,

C.L. You heard it? 7

E. Of course, because the people were brought to a camp near us,
and from there - it was pitch dark, I don't know what time
it was, perhaps midnight - they were taken out from there.
The moment we heard the Hatikva being sung we knew these people
were going to die.

C.L. They sung the Hatikva inside the gas chamber?

E. It was something hard to tell. We were inside the barmks and
we knew something was going on, something was happening to our
people and we couldn't help them. That was a terrible night.
The next day again people from the MHnnerlager with the
striped uniforms told us the first Czechs were burnt. Then we
started to believe that there were crematoriums, but of
course we couldn't imagine gas. You could feel the smell, it
was hanging over...

C.L. It is unbelievable, what you say, because when one sees
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Auschwitz toddy it's really 400 metres from the place where
you were and the crematoria.

Now, today, I know they were burnt, but when it happened -
again, nobody told you, but you felt something was going on
and you were not sure. The struggle in believing was something

terrible.

C.L. What do you mean, 'the struggle in believing'?

E.

'Is it true? Can it be true?‘You struggled, and told yourself

'This can't be true. This can'f be truet.

C.L, Even in Auschwitz?

E.

Even in Auscwitz. Until you were sﬁre of something, you couldn't
believe.

We were in the camp, we worked. I must tell you, I was in

block no 6. In block no 6 there was the orchestra of the

camp, the men's orchestra. Every time, when the SS came, the

men had to play. There were several instruments. They were
making rehearsals. It happened several times, when SS were

drunk - I must tell you beforehand, I forgot something: in
Block no 6 there were mostly young women. I came to Block no 6
because when I came to Auschwitz my tummy was not growing, I

was still slim. They just took the young women and put them into
block no 6. It very often happened that drumk SS, 1n the evenimgs
came into block no 6. Firstrof all they woke up the orchestra
and the music had to play; in came the SS with their bicycleé,
and then they started to climb up and look for nice women and

take them out, and the girls had to sleep with them. I was
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living on the 3rd floor, and when we saw the S8 coming we
went to the wall because we didn't want them to see us. We
were all afraid of it. The girls were screaming, and that was
terrible, terrible.

So I told you my bed was on the 3rd floor; my friend, Ruthka
Nassowva - Ruthka Joklova - had a cover, and I had a cover,

S0 in the evenings we made our bed - a cover without any
mattresses on the wood; with the second cover we both covered
ourselves up, and with our very thin coat we put on the cover
and on we went with our bodies, ome to the other, because it
was winter. It was January and Febfuary and March in Auschwitz,
and it was not heated. It was awfully cold. Without stockings,

without underwear, in these very thin clothes. Without food.

C.L. And where was your hushand?

E.

In the 'Familienlager' it was like this: on one side were
women and on the other side were men. We saw each other, we
talked together. In the evening it was allowed for one hour -
the bell rang, and for one hour it was allowed (or half an
hour, I'm not sure) to meet your husband on the Lagerstrasse -
your husband, or father - then the bell rang and you had to
separate. Other meefing places: as I told you before, by the

W.C. or the washing room., These were the meeting places.
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One day there were rumours that - we had no newspapers or
radio and we didn't know what was going on outside;»the whole
time we were in camps, from Theresien until the end, we

just missed the whole history. Even today it is lacking in
my knowledge. We had no news., But there were rumours all the
time. Sometimes you believed the rumours and sometimes you
didn't, but there were rumours that the Allies were bombing
Germany and that there were transports leaving Auschwitz

with young people for work - that they needed hands for work

-to rebuild what the Allies had done. We didn't think whether

it was true or not, but one day we were told '*Selectiont.
Mengele arrived, The rumours went that they would take out of
Auschwitz young and strong people. I thought 'Young I am,

and strong I am, but I am pregnant. How can I get out of
Auschwiitz?' I had a friend of mine in the Schreibstube, and

I told him 'Look here, I can't go to the selection. Something
tells me I can't go to the selection, hut I want my name on
the list to leave Auséﬁitz. Is it possible?!

He told me 'It is possible'. When the selection was, when

Mengele arrived...

C.L. It was a selection in the Czech family camp?

E.

In the Czech family camp. When the selection was, when the
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SS arrived I went up to my cot and put myself underneath the
cover, very flat, hoping that they would not find me. They
ordered everybody out of the barracks and everybody had to be
there. They controlled numbers and so on, and they started the
selection. Thereiwas perhaps a confusion, I domn't know what it
was, but my name was put on the list and when the SS arrived
in our block and started to search the cots I thought they
would hear my heart hammering. But. they didn't‘find me. That
was my big luck that they didn't climb up the cots. My name
was put on the list, and the vefy next day I, with other

young, healthy people, left the Familienlager.

C.L. You didn't see Mengele this time?

E.

No. I left the Familienlager, and in the Familienlager were
left sick people, elderly people and all the children and some

young mothers with the children.

C.L. And they were gassed some time later.

E'

Later on they were all gassed., I rémember one case, Braunova,
I don't remember her surname, she got hold of some sleeping
rills and gave them to her small child. She smuggled her

child to the women's camp where we came. There the child

woke up and started to cry, and she had to go back and she was
gassed. It was a terrible tragedy. A beautiful blond child.

We were in the women's Lager, and again one day we were told

we were going to work, to Germany. Nobody believed it.

C.L. From the Czech family camp...

o™

e

We were transported from the Czech family camp, first to the
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women's camp - the 'Frauenlager' - of Ausdwitz; in the meantime
the men from the Familienlager were separated and sent away.
We women were transferred to the Frauenlager. One day - we
were there one or two days, I don't remember - we were told
‘Selection'. We were going to Germany. Nobody believed we
were going to Germany. We didn't believe it. But we had

to get up - tAufstellen zu fnf!' - and we had to get rid of -
our clothes. Mengele was there, and some other SS people, and
I saw from far away that women all naked were going between 2
SS, and there Mengele was standing making 'Right! Left!',
waving with his hand. I didn't know this; either life, or

death. Life, death. It's very easy.

C.L. How was he? How was Mengele?

E.

How?

C.L. Yes. How did he look?

E.

I will tell you a little later, ok?
Again my instinct told me, 'If I go in between these 2 SS, I
will not 1ive: because I was in the 8th month of pregnancy

with a big belly.

¢.L. 8 months!

E.

8 months. I asked some beautiful friends of mine, young girls,
'Please stand in front of me and behind me. Perhaps the man
which is in Mengele will not sec me, will overlook me, S0

I can come with you on the right side. I don't know which is
the right side, And that's just what happened. Several

beautiful girls were in front of me, and Méngele waved me to
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the side with these beautiful girls. I came to them and
started to cry, because something in me -~ I didn't know it,
but something in me told me !'You have saved your life'. And

I wanted to live, I was so yaung.

We were packed into the cattle wagons again, and we arrived again

after the same journey - a terrible journey ~ in Hamburg.

C.L. That's very fapﬁ

E.

Hamburg, Germany. We were on the Amerikakai, in big warehouses.
There were cots - 3 stories of cots. We were put into these
warehouses, and the very next morning we got up, everyone

got a shovel or something and we wére told we had to

" clean a bombed refinery, there in Hamburg. Off I went with my

tummy, and we started to clean the bombed refinery. We were
crawling about the ruins and so on. We were told what we had
to do, we returned in the ewning dead tired, but somehow
.%%{@S%iedl was with my friends, with my Haverin@ I asked

our block elderly (orderly?) in the morning - or in the
evening, I'm not sure - 'Don't say, if somebody asks you, that
I am pregnant. I am going to work. We will see what will

happent.

c.L. It was a woman?

E.

A woman, yes. A Czech.

The next day I went to work, and happily I came home. I think
afrnc

I was for 3 or 4 days going out to work, coming bac ,/wi h

my friends, not thinking what the future would be.
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E. We went to work. Every day we came back tired because there

were real ruins to clear up.

C.L.Wé&s it an o0il refinery or a sugar works?

E.

An oil refinery. 1t was somewhere in the harbour of Hambﬁrg.

We were taken there by lorries and‘hrought back in the ewning.
It was very hard work, and I don't know how many days I went to
work and came dead tired back. Somehow I was happy with my
friends, until one morning an SS doctor came in and asked 'Are
there sick people here on this block?' My block elderly, who

was very friendly with me and I was very friendly with her,

sald 'No sick pgople, but 2 pregnant women;. I was so astonished
and didn't know what to do at this moment because I ¢idn't

want them to know I was pregnant; I went to work - I didn't

want it. And until: this time I didn't know there were two of us.
Immediately the SS doctor said 'You are not going to work!',

and he took us - Berta and me - to the SS Kommandentur in
Hamburg, and said he had found 2 pregnant women who couldn‘t

go on with this hard work, and that we had to go away from i
Hamburg because all the women there had to work. We were unable

to work. Berta was also in her 8fh month of pregnancy, and her
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story of how she came to Hémburg wasg similar to mine.

This S5 doctor gave us over to another SS who had his rifle,
and on his rifle he had a bayonet. We were led to the railway
station, and on the railway we heard him taking tickets to

Ravensbrick.

C.L. He took tickets?

E.

Yes. to Ravensbrlick. We went in a train from Hamburg to .
Ravensbrlick. We were given into a camp - it was only a women's

camp at Révensbruck; and we were on the !'Krankenrevier',

C.L. How did you make the trip to Ravensbruck?

E.

By &rain.

C.L., A passenger train?

E.

A passenger train, and with us the SS with their bayonets.

We had diothes, a dress which had a cross from another material
sewn across in front and in the back; underneath the cross

was cut out so you couldn't take off the cross and be in a
normal dress. That was the sign of a prisoner. We went through
Berlin, and at the railway station in Berlin - we were talking
Czech with Berta - and we saw 'Rollstiegen', rolling steps,

and thought 'We ﬁill escape now'. On we went to the rolling
steps, but we forgot we had this prisoner's sign and the SS
started to shout. People upstairs were already walting for

us, and holding us, - and we had thought we could escape in
big Berlin with our bellies!

So we éfriygﬁ»ipravensbruck and we were on the !'Krankenrevier',

One evening they said 'All pregnant women have to come to a
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certain spot!. We arrived, and we saw several pregnant women,
perhaps 20, standing thgre. It was again my terrible instinct -
I don't know how to tell it. I told Berta 'I will say we are
sisters and you have got pains, and I will stay with yout. It
was very simple for me. We were standing in the heap of pregnant
women, and an SS came and told us we were going away with the
transport. So I said 'I want to talk to the 'LagerHlteste!', to
an SS woman.' He said 'Ok, come with me', and he brought me

to the Lagerdlteste. When I think today, Where did I get these
thoughts? Where did I get the courage to thiﬁk of things like
that? I don't know. It was again this instinct. I came to the
Lagerllteste and told her 'We have just been told we are leaving -
tonight, but my sister is pregnant too and she has pains. You
as a woman, perhaps you understand, I can't leave my sister

in this state here., She has got pains.! She gave the order

that I was to stay with my sister on the Krankenrevier, because
my sister has got pains. She didn't ask if it was true that she
was a sister,

We stayed overnight, and the pregnant women went and never
appeared again. They went to the gas chambers. The very next

morning...

C.L. Where, in Ravensb¥lck?

"B

Yes.

C.L. Were there gas chambers in Ravensbrick?

E.

No, no. They went away by transport to Auschwitz. We heard

afterwards that they arrived in Auschwitz. But we stayed
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overnight, and in the evening the others went. In the morning
the SS doctor saw that it was not true, that my'sister' had no
pains. We had to disappear from Ravensbriick, I don't know why.
So the SS Lagerfilhrer gave us an SS man, again with a rifle and
bayonet, and a midwife. We had to leave Raﬁepsbrﬁck; we were
brought in a car, the tgriner Anton' in which prisoners were
transported. We were both in a cell inside, and we thought *We
don't know where we are going, we are leaving Ravensbrick' -
but we had no idea where we were going. Out we came from this
tgriiner Anton!' and we were on the railway station of Ravens—.
britick, and we heard when the SS took 4 tickets and said

"Nach Auschwitz". All our world, Berta's world and_mihe,
collapsed, because we knew we had escaped from Auschwitz and
now we were going back. To death. Because we already knew

what Auschwitz was. No chance, We had to go. We were sitting
in the train going to Auschwitz; and nearing Auschwitz. You
must know we had signs - a red triangle, and over it a yellow
one. The yellow meant 'Jew'. With Berta we decided to take off
the 'Jew' triangle because only the red triangle meant
tpolitical!?, And we were Political Jews. So we took of the
yellow triangle, the. only thing we could do, and we arrived
the next day at dinner time.(# was exactly dinnertime]in
Auschwitz, with the SS and the midwife. the SS took ué to

an office, where only one German SS officer was sitting - I
don't know if it was an officer, I think it was a German soldier.

He said 'Heil Hitler! I am bringing 2 pregnant women who do
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not belong to Ravensbriick; because of their numbers they
belong here, so I brought them back to Auschwitz, Hell Hitler!!
He :turned around and off he went., I said to Berta in Czech,
'He has no papers! Nothing he had from us'. Already this
- German soldier called to me 'Your name?' I gave a Czech name -

_ afe
I sai Maria Svoborna'.

+.+ 580 he asked my name, and I gave a Czech name, Maria Svoborna.
He asked the name of my father and I said a Czech name, something
'Svoborny'. He asked me,'Father a Jéw?' I said 'No!'. 'Mother

a Jew?' 'No', 'You are not a Jew?' I said 'Noi!

He called my friend and she did the same, she just gave‘a false
name, because we had né names; we were cattle, nothing but

cattle. No names at all.

C.L. Was there no chance they would find out through the numbers?

E.

There was of course a chance, but I just took‘the chance because
I saw in the face of this soldier, he was a very simple man with-
out any power. I:told you we arrived at dinnertime, and there

was nobody there, only him. I think the other ones were just
eating. So we took the chance. It was nothing. He:called for

an Ordonnant, a man who had to accompany us, and he said

'Frauenlager'., The moment he said 'Frauenlager' -~ we were

AT bd e Nonrnnlh +anmatdthan wtbh Vandba _ oaAa T #ATA han 1Hla wi 1l
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live, Berta. We are not going to the death, we are going to the
Frauenlagert!. Every time there was hope, and the will to live
was so very strong. We were only thinking of how to live, how
to come over all this.

We came to the Frauenlager and we were a very big sensation,
because we were the first people who arrived back from a
transport who ever left Auschwitz, As we didn't believe that i
the transports leaving Auschwitz had this destination, so
nobody in Auschwitz believed it. We were the first living
witnesses who came back, and we told them 'Yes, we were in
Hamburg, and we were working in Hamburg; we just came back.!
It spread over the Frauenlager. We were such a sensation that
Mengele heard about the sensation, and in he came to see us,
Hé called us, and started to shout: 'How is it possible that
I didn't see 2 pregnant women? Where were you when I...' (he

. didn't use the word Selection - ‘'ausgesucht’')... 'when I

was picking out people for work?!

C.L.. How did he say it in German?

E. 'Als ich die Leute fuUr die Arbeit ausgesucht habe',..

He just couldn't grasp it that he didnft see us, and he said
"0k, you will give birth...'Entbindeﬁ Sie, und dann =Werden
Sie wekter sehen' - 'Give birth, and then you will see’'.

He came each day, a very charming man. He talked several words
with us about - I don't know what - 'How are you feeling,

What are you doing?‘'and so on.

C.l., How was he? I heard that he was a handsome man.

™

TTa wae atrtrnantdrra wrarwvy attrrnanddera warir rhanmine wany ocAand
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manners.
C.L. He was tall? or small?
E. He was middle—sizéd, not tall and not small.‘He made a very
good impression in his uniform, and he was very self-conscious,
(= self~-confident?) and very secure,
C.L. Was he young?
E. Yes. And of course we heard Mengele and we were afraid, very
afraid of him. My tongue was somehow stiff, and I only
answered his questions. He came every day to visit us; we
were in the 'Krankenrevier! of the Frauenlager. One.day in the
afternoon I started with my pains. I didn't know they were
pains, I thought I had eaten something, because I kad nobody
to explain to me. The pains in the aftérnoon became stronger
and stronger and sironger. In this Krankenrevier was a Poiish
nidwife, and she saw me; she took a covervand put it... in the
- blocks there was an oven running from one side to the other,
and in the middle was a sort of bench you could sit on, a
very long bench through the whole block. She put a cover on it,
told me to lie down, and she started to pray the rosenkrantz
near me. The pains went stronger and stronger, and [ gave
birth that night to a beautiful girl. Very big. She helped me.
There was no cotton wool, there was no boiling water, nothing.
1 lay in‘my own dirt. The baby was born, and from somewhere
she took some linén, I don't know where she got it, and put the
baby into the cot near me. In the morning Mengele came and told

this woman, 'You have to put a bandage over her breasts -~ she -

munetrnt+s LFand dha Thhaler T cmmnd knA maA Lase T hwwm - hmbes mamen VR amn
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without food'. My breasts weré bound, and the baby was near me,
crying. She was hungry. I got soup, and took off a pgece of the
linen and took a piece of bread, put it in the soup and into the
mouth of my child, because the child was hungry. This went on
for several days. I had a high temperature running because I
was swollen with milk and I couldn't breast-feed my baby. Every
day Mengele came to see and make his research, how long a baby
can live without food. As I said, there was no cotton wool.

It was terrible, how we were lying in our own dirt, most of us.
The baby started to be skinny and more skinny, and got o€¢demas,
it was a terrible sight. The next day, when Mengele came he

told us ‘Tomorrow morning at 8 o'clock you will be readylith

your child, I am coming to fetch you'. I knew where he was

going to fetch me -~ he was taking us to the gas chambers, and

I didn*'t want to live any more. It was terrible, I couldn't

‘bear it any more. Somehow I was glad that I was escaping this

misery. In the evening, when the lights went off and it started
to be night, I knew it would be my last night. My child
couldn't cry any more. It was terrible. I éan hear the voice -
the noise, it was not even a voice - and I started to cry
because i knew tomofrow I was going to die with my child.

The lights went off and I started to scream, because every-
thing was so terrible. A doctor, a woman doctor, came to me:
"Why are you screaming?" I told her "I am going to die tomorrow." -
She said "0h, it's you who returned from Hamburg?® I said

"Yes, I am going tomorrow. Mengele is coming to fetch me."
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She said "I must do something for you". She came back half an
hour later with an injection needle. She told me "Give this to
your child." I thought "What is ite"

Bobine 76
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'E. She told me "Give this to your child." I asked her "What is
it?" and she told me "Morphine". I told her,"How can I give this
to my child? How can I be the murdérer of my child?" She told
me "I have taken the Hippocratic oath, and I must save lives.
You are young, and I must save your life, The child can't live;
look at the child, how it looks. But you are young and I must
save you. You will give this to your c¢hild because I can't®,
I didn't want to, and she started to talk to me, into me. The
more she talked, the less I had any 'Widerstand!'...

C.L. Resistance.

Es o..until I made it. I gave the injection to my child. She took
the injection needle away and the child started to die, near me.
It took perhaps one hour, perhaps two. I don't know.
In the morning, when day started, in the Krankenrevier they
always collected corpses. Every morning there was a heap of
corpses in Auschwitz, and they came and collected my child too,.
They took it away from me. At 8 o'clock Mengele came and I was
ready to be transported. He asked me, "Where.is the childev

I told him "It died last night."wI want to see the corpse."
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.Off he went. I was told that he was looking for the corpse,

but in this heap of corpses, to find such a tiny corpse - he
couldn't, Even for Dr Mengele it was difficult. He came back

to me and told me in German: "Haben Sie ein Schwein gehabt!

Mit dem nHchsten Transport gehen Sie weg!" This is a German
expression - "Yon had luck! With the next transport you are
going away".

I was not glad. I had no 5oy. I was broken; 1 didn't want to
live, I wanted to live - I didn't know what I wanted. I was
apathetic, nothing was for me - no joy at all. With the next
transport I went away. We were trénsported to Taucha, near
Leipzig and we had to work in the Hassachwerke, where they

were producing the Panzerfaust. Again, I don't know how it canme,
I had luck; I was in a transport with pleﬁty of Hungarian girlsi

and the very first evening, when we arrived, the SS came and

- asked "Is there somebody who talks German?". Instinctively my

hand went up, and the German told me "You will pick out 5 other
girls. You are going away with the car.® After Auschwitz,

to go away with the car meant to go to the gas. I said "On

my conscience I can't take 5 other girls; pick them out." Hg
picked out 5 strong girls, and off we went with the car. We
came to a bakery, and we were asked to load the car full with
bread for'the camp. We started to load bread, and in the end ;
the baker's‘women gave us a whole loaf of bread. When you get
a million pounds, I think I couldn't have been so happj:;ithl_

this loaf of bread. I forgot to tell you that in Taucha bei
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Leipzig we got these striped uniforms, and also a coat made out

of 1t. I took the coat, and behind the lbaf of bread; I took

it home so the SS didn't see it. So I went and took another loaf

up to 4 or 5 loaves of bread I_started to steal for my room-

mates. We had bread! And I was lucky to be in a transport

group. We were loading coal for the camp and ammunition for

the $SS, but mostly we were loading, we six girls, food. That

means we were eating in the car - carrots, which we had to brﬁng

or onions, which we had to bring, or bread. If you have food

you are strong and you survive, and I don't know how I came to

it but again it was food, and I sﬁrvived,

In this camp we were women, and nearby was a men's camp. The

men had to pass the women's camp from work.

(Excuse me, 1 must go back to the bakery): the bakert's wife

was very nice, and every time the?%ent with us and accompanied

us; he said "Please don't escape from me, I am responsible

for you." I said "Be sure, we have nowhere to go. We will not

escape from you." We were very good prisoners because it was

impossible to escape anywhere. So he started to flirt with

her; I.made aﬁ'érrorﬁ instead of taking twice five loafs, I

once took six times two loafs. She was standing, and every time
made the

we passed, she/tensz» - she was signing. Once I took 12 breads,

and once I took 10, and again 12 - I started to steal from the

bakery. I told my girls~ "Five times ten breads, and once,

twelve breads.™ And in our camp, until the end of the war,

nobody knew how it was that in our camp each prisomner got,

until the end, one-third of a loaf of bread and it was plenty.
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We were stealihg bread, and we had bread; even when we got our

whole loaf in the evening, we were standing on the pathway where

the men had to pass, and we were throwing them bread because the
men needed bread too, not only the women. So we had bread; and
only by stealing. I was an expert in stealing. I must laugh
when I talk about it.

We had a doctor in this camp, who was the doctor also for ths
men as well as for the women. Because he was the connection -
he was a Czech - I told him "Alex"(and I don't know his famiiy
name, 1 just called him Alex...) Whenever we brought ammmunition
we had to hide it away, and I thought somehow the men must
know where the ammunition is. Every time I told Alex, "Alex,
the ammunition is thefe and they are hiding it". Alex also

got bread from us. One day they called us; we heard the Allies

bombing around there, and also bombing the factory. (Now comes

‘the nice part of the story).

I was in connection with the doctor, because I knew he was the
doctor of the men's camp as well as the women's camp. I wanted
the men to know what was going on, I don't know why. The

~bombing by the Allies got stronger and sﬁronger, and we knew

through the nervousness of the SS that something was going on.
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It was Silvester 43 - '44, excuse me - and I knew...

Yes, Silvester '44/'45, the beginning of '45 ... I knew that
the SS was having a party and I told my girl roommates, "I
will steal coal and we will have a party". I went and stole
coal - we had an oven which served us sometimes when we had
plenty of lice -(so we put coal in the oven, which I stole,
and we put our clothes on the hot stove, it was a big, round
one, to burn off the lice. But they came back again, plenty of
them!) So I stole coal again, and I knew the SS would be very

busy so we would have a party. We invited the roommates from

‘another room, and we thought 'Ok, we are several nations

here' so we started to sing, each nation their own songs, and it
was very nice. But there were other Czech girls who sang
Czech songs, so I thought 'Ok, s0 now I will sing a German

song'. SO0 I sang .a&. song of Sara lLeander. My back was to

the entrance door, and I sang a song 'Ein neues Leben fHngt

an, ein neuer Tag kommt heran'. It says 'A new life starts, a

- new day comes' - a song full of hope. I didn't know why the

girls in front of me made gestures, and I finished the song

and heard behind me the Lagerflhrer, the S$S, who was listenihg
to my éong. That was the gesture of my girls. He said ﬁoh,

you know how to sing. Tomorrow you will come to the Rapportstube,

and you will see." The next day my girls were pitying me, "What

‘would the Lagerffhrer do with me?" He gave me an order: "In a

fortnight you will make a complete variety programme, and it

must be ready for a performance in a fortnight"., I told him,
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"Herr Lagerflhrer, never in my:1life have I done such a thing!®
"An order is an order."

I ¢ame back and told my girls, "Something must be done". We
had luck, since in the same camp there were also gypsies,
beautiful women, they were dancing and singing. That means the
others were working with them in the factory. Off we went to
the gypsies, and in a fortnight we had a wonderful programme,
There was an old piano, and there was a block with a kind of
stage. So we performed, and it was all right; one afternoon it
was for the women, and one afternoon for the men. The SS were
attending this performance., Why the performance? Because of the
bombing, and they jﬁst wanted to take their thoughts away from
it. When the bombing became bigger they asked for another

performance. I said "Without men, I can't." The LagerfHhrer

- allowed men to be in this performance. I came to the hall

there and saw 2 men on the stage, so 1 asked "Who. are these

_ ) -
men?""One of them knows; how to sing;, and I asked ~ . what his

name was. “His name is Kurt Elias". He is my husband today;
that's how I met my husband, on the stage. He doesn't know how:
to sing, he sings very false! He doesn't know until today!

So we made a second performance, but all was very nervous because
we felt the end coming. One day they asked us for an Appel, and
we got the order that 50 sick people wefe staying in the camp
and they needed 50 healthy people ﬁo attend them, and the other
people were leaving the camp. "Who wants on his own will, freely,

to stay in the camp?" I ®said I would stay in the camp with the
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sick people. The whole camp was emptied, and all the elderly
German watchmen took over the watch over us. We were attending
the sick people for 4 or‘5 days, and we watched the German
watchmen. One day they were-not there. We thought "Can it

be possible that we are frée? It's impossible!" Without any
drama, without anything. The doctor and I went to the gate

of the camp, and we opened the gate and stepped out alone, on

the street, and we couldn't grasp it that we were free. We

went down the street on the way to the town. I knew the surround-
ings because I went with the car, and after a while we heard
terrible sounds from a ditch - 'StBhnen', I don't know how

you would call it - and we came to the ditch. There were 2

people in the ditch with terrible burns - 2 men. We took them up
and asked what happened. Very shortly, iﬁ Polish - we understomd
Polish -~ they told us that they were in a camp nearby and when
the German watchmen disappeared SS came, put covers on the - .-.° |
windows with gasoline all around the block. They were with rifles
and set fire to the covers, and shot whoever tried to escape.
These two men somehow escaped and came to warn us. We immediately
took them, ran back with the doctor and gave the alarm. Each ome
of us took an ill person, and we séid "Only out of the camp.

Qutside nothing terrible can happen®. And we started to leave

~ the camp, running as we could with the sick people, and in fromt

of us came a German with a bike., He passed me, and said "Come
after me, I will show you to the Americans®. A= we went, I
believed him - we went after him, and we were in the fields,

It started to be dark...



2

L]

E

REPRODUCED FROM THE HOLDINGS OF THE U.S. HOLOCAUST MEMORIAL MUSEUM ARCHIVES

£

-5~ | RUTH ELIAS 17

(deuxiéme camera)
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E. I was in connectionuwith the doctor,...etc. (voir RUTH ELIAS I7)

jusqu'as:'terrible sounds from a ditch - 'StBhnen, I don't

know how you would call it...' (a la page 53).

Bobine 79
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E. +...(2)...1 came to Czechoslovakia, and I started to look, I
started to go wherever we decided to meet after the war. Not
a single soul. I started to be desperate, and I started to
look. Not a single soul. I started to be alone, alone, alone,
I went into a depression and had to be trahsported to a
sanatorium. I didn't want to live. This broke me.

C.L. Everybody had died?

E. Everybody. Nobody from my father's thirteen sisters and
brothers, with their children and their wife. Only eone aunt
who 1ived.in Palestine survived. The whole family went, and I
wvas alone.

C.L. Your sister too?

E. Nobody. And T went into a depression and was transported to
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a sanatorium because I didn't want to live., The doctors didn't
know what to do, so one doctor - he was very clever. The
sanatorium was in a castle, and he told me one day when I came,
and a verﬁ thick rope was ljing on the table...I told him I
didn't want to live, and he told me "You know, I quite under-
stand you. Outside there are big trees, Take this rope now,
and go and hang yourself. That's one possibility. The other
possibility is to start to make lines through(?) what was, and
start to live. And every time when something happens to you,
make a big line." And it was like this, and I started to make
lines; I have made plenty of lines since in my life. And I
started to gef hope. I know one person, she is my mother today
and she lives in Israel, shesthe doctor who saved my life.
Never will I forgetkﬁa;za.Blaiah(?) who saved my life. She is .

today a lady of nearly eighty, and a doctor.

C.L. The one who gave you the injection for the child? She is alive?

E.

From Israel I went to Czechoslovakia in '65, and I found her.
When I came to her and stood in the door, I thought she would

have a heart attack. We were so very excited, both of us.

C.L. She is Jewish?

E.

She is Jewish. Matza Blaiah, Dr Matza Blaiah(?).

C.L. Where is she now?

Es

She is living in Israel.

C.L. Ah, she came.

E.

She is living in Israel. She escaped in #68 from Czechoslovakia

and she is my mother today. We are so very, very close.
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I only want to tell you one, very short story: I gave birth
here in Israel to two boys, but when I was in hospital and

ny first boy came out of my body a nurse came and took the
child away. The moment I saw she was taking the child away, I
started to scream "Don't take my child away, you will kill

my child! Don't take my child away!" I started to cry, and the
doctors and nurses were looking at me. Nobody knew, and nobody
cared about people from concentration camps, what they went .
through. They thought I had gone mad. Afterwards one doctor
came and struck me, so I told him "Give me my child! Don't fake
ny chilq,away!“ He ordered my child to be brought to me., I "
was the only mother whose child was lying near her, because

I told him the sfory. I could neveratalk about it in the begin-
nig, people didn't understand us and we closed ourselves up
because nobody could understand. Plenty of people committed
sulcide because there were no doctors and nobody could under-
stand them.

In '49 I came to Israel, and I am very happy here. It's the onl&
country I can and will live in. Whenever I go abroad it is
very nice to go sightseeing, it is very nice to be a tourist =-
even a guest. Somewhere, some houses all over the world, IV
can be, but Israel is my home. When I came down the steps from
the ship, my head went up. And I am a proud Israeli who loves
her country. I can't live anywhere (else).

One more thing I will tell you.

C.L. Do you feel secure here?
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Only in Israel. Nowhere else. I am among my people, and I%
have my country. I know I am fighting for it because I know
it is my country. My children are fighting for it. I never
had a homeland, nobody wanted us, nobody gave us any help.
Why was the whole Holocaust? Why did 6 million have to give
their lives? Because no country in the whole world gave us a
hand to help. And here is my country, beqause here I am in
ny homeland, my 'Heimat!'.

I tell you, because nobody gave us a helping hand, therefore
6 million had to go. It was very easy in the UN to raise the
hand, to vote for Israel. Had they>he1ped us, another 6 millial
would be here(?). But we have now our home, our Israel, and
for this I will fight, we will fight, and my children will
fight, because we need to have a land where we can live as
Jews and»nobody tells us 'Bloody Jew!,

It is a story. I can tell you plenty of it, something more.

Did you ask me something more?

C.L. Don't talk now. Stay like this,

(RUTHE ELIAS 18. Clap de fin)

(fin de 1'interview)



